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FOREWORD


From the moment I could crawl, I’d thought of just about every way to thieve money. I’d nicked it from the till as a kid, burgled houses and shops, worked out ways of fiddling, robbed jeweller’s and raided banks. You name it, I’d done it. If I hadn’t done it, I probably wished I had.


Now, here I was, at the age of seventy-seven, an ex-con with forty-two years’ bird under my belt. I’d done more time on bread and water than any man alive and spent most of my life behind bars. I was on the way to Reg Kray’s funeral in London’s East End in October 2000 when I realised that my fortunes had definitely taken a turn for the better. There were thousands of people lining the route. The last time I’d seen crowds that big they were the usual rent-a-mob jeering outside court. Now they were surrounding my car, chanting my name: ‘Frank! Frank!’


So, this was all a bit of a turn-up.


Some kids who were not even born when I started my last serious bit of bird in the late 1960s were asking for autographs, stuffing twenty-pound notes through the car window at me. It was tempting to keep a few, I must admit, but I did right by them, signed them and handed them back.


There was quite a crush and I was worried someone would get hurt and I would get nicked for it – let’s face it, with a reputation like mine, I am usually the first to get the blame. We were all travelling in black limousines through the Krays’ old manor in Bethnal Green on the way to the church. Reg’s coffin was in a traditional hearse, drawn by six black stallions with feathered head plumes; they looked really beautiful, they’d done him proud. The funeral procession even had cozzers on motorbikes as an escort. I’m sure the irony of that would not have been lost on Reg, who would have laughed his head off.


A funeral is always a solemn occasion, and rightly so, but there was something in the air that day, as Frank Sinatra’s ‘My Way’ played out across the congregation and the crowds gathered outside in the churchyard, and it got me thinking. Reg’s twin brother, Ron, had gone five years earlier, dying of a heart attack in March 1995, after spending years in Broadmoor – a place I also had a few spells in myself. He had a massive turnout for his funeral. But this was different. There was an excitement, a buzz. Poor Ron really went downhill after he and Reg were given thirty years each at the Old Bailey in 1969 for the murders of Jack ‘The Hat’ McVitie and George Cornell, but he wasn’t always mad.


My name has often been linked to theirs and, in a funny way, it seems our paths were always destined to cross. We were supposed to be from rival gangs – they were the Krays and I was with the Richardsons – the brothers Charlie and Eddie, who were scrap metal dealers by trade. They were the East End and we were south of the river. The truth is more complicated than that, and I intend for me and my family to set the record straight on quite a few things in this book. But, broadly speaking, it is probably fair to say we were rivals because we were not in business together, ever, and the twins would have loved a slice of the action that I had in the West End.


In fact, the downfall of our empires was tied to each other through violence that is now legendary in gangland terms. The murder of Dickie Hart in a shooting at Mr Smith’s nightclub in Catford in 1966 kicked it all off. I was acquitted of that and rightly so. Who pulled the trigger in the fight that killed him remains a mystery that the cops have never managed to unravel. I’m very glad about that.


With me and the Richardsons nicked over the Hart killing, the way was clear for Ron to blast several rounds into George Cornell in the Blind Beggar pub in Mile End, in broad daylight, the very next day. It was possibly because he had called Ron a ‘fat poof’, possibly because of the Hart killing, but certainly because I wasn’t around to take care of the situation. So, one thing led to another.


Back then shootings weren’t ten a penny like they are now. The public felt like London was the Wild West and these two violent gangs were behind it all, with the police after us, the dangerous criminals. The press headlines whipped it all up into a frenzy of an all-out turf war. Things were going to get a lot worse for the Krays and me after that – we were public enemy number one and it was twenty years of bad luck in my case, with no remission.


Reg died of cancer just eight weeks after his release – which was a liberty, he should have been let out earlier; he was no risk to anyone anymore and he had already served more than thirty years. His passing marked the end of an era and that is what the funeral was all about for the public. I realised then that people looked on me not as some low-life, but as part of a criminal age that was no longer with us. I came from a world where women and children were kept out of it and men settled scores among themselves and didn’t involve the cozzers. The Krays were people who were held in that sort of respect in people’s minds.


Now Reg was about to be laid to rest alongside his brother Ron, with the world’s media watching, and I was there – so people felt they could reach out and touch me and get a part of that history through the car window on the way to the funeral, I suppose. We were still the bad guys, but when it comes to it everyone loves a villain, don’t they? And with the way crime has got more violent with more innocent people caught up in it, I think people remember the days of the Krays, the Richardsons and me in a different way. It was only those who had it coming who got hurt on my watch and I was a bit handy with a razor or an axe.


It was all a very long time ago now but still it fascinates people. Everyone loves the stories, the half-truths, the what-ifs? Well, to know what really happened, you had to be there. Sometimes the real truth is ugly, hard to stomach if you are not used to that way of life.


The thing is, me and my family, we were there; through the days of the big gang bosses of 1930s Soho, the blackout and the Blitz in London, the heyday of 1950s clubland and the rise of the razor gangs, to hitting the big time as a gang leader in the 1960s. My sister Eva was a top-class ‘hoister’ – a shoplifter – in the Forty Thieves gang, which traced its roots back to Victorian London. She regularly emptied many a West End shop of furs, designer dresses and jewellery with her light-fingered pals. My boys, Frank, David and Patrick, took it on to the next generation, becoming burglars, jewel thieves, bank raiders and armed robbers in the 1970s and 1980s, through to drug running in the 1990s. Me and my boys were all in the nick together at some point.


The Fraser family has carved its niche on the wrong side of the law at every stage of twentieth-century British criminal history, and that is something I am extremely proud of. Thinking about it, if you put all of our sentences together, we’d be pushing a hundred years at Her Majesty’s pleasure. How many families out there can say that?


Through it all, I have gained a reputation as a hardman; ‘Mad’ Frank, an enforcer who pulls people’s teeth out with pliers. There’s been a lot of lies written about me, stuff that made us all laugh really, but it has never done me any harm to have a tough reputation. Those who know me know I’ve done a lot worse.


When people ask me if I have any regrets, I always say my only regret is getting caught, and I think the same goes for the rest of my family. I’m proud of everything they have ever done – whether it is on the wrong side of the law or the right one. I know which one I prefer.


Families have many secrets, things you only know if you have lived through it together. I’m happy, at the end of my days, to share ours. It’s been a life of crime and I wouldn’t have it any other way.


Now it’s time for us to set the record straight.


Frankie Fraser, 2014




PROLOGUE


1933


‘Go on, Frank!’


As two boys grappled on the greasy cobblestones, the solemn-faced girl with her long black hair hanging in tatty plaits clenched her fists tightly and yelled her support for her younger brother. It had been the talk of the playground for days. The gang from Colombo Street in Blackfriars had been threatening to come over to Howley Place and have it out and now they’d sent a kid built like a brick shithouse, wearing hobnail boots. Only Frankie Fraser was brave enough to face him.


A crowd gathered as word spread that a fight was on.


Workers spilled out from the London wastepaper factory around the corner and the women, still wearing sacking around their legs to keep the rats away, pushed to the front of the circle for a better view. They were the worst, those women; the toughest fighters, who would yank out clumps of hair, screech and scratch each other’s eyes out to settle their scores. Eva didn’t like them, with their loud-mouthing and cat-calling, but she wasn’t afraid of them either and right now, they were in her way.


Eva elbowed her way forward as Frank and his opponent were pulled to their feet and told to fight properly, not scrap on the floor. They’d already done a couple of rounds. With two adults sparring, these things could go on for hours – twenty rounds, until one of them was knocked out cold. With kids, it was usually over much more quickly – the spectators liked a bet but they didn’t want the lads doing permanent damage to each other. The local bookmaker shortened the odds on the lad from Colombo Street winning the fight. He had fists like hams and legs like tree trunks, for a start.


Blood was pouring from a gash on Frank’s head but as his eyes met Eva’s, he wiped it away on his vest, spat on the ground, and raised his fists once more. As his opponent swung a punch, Frank ducked and then slid in and hit him hard in the ribs. It was payback for the fat lip Frank had received earlier when he took one right in the kisser. The Colombo Street kid staggered backwards but the Howley Place onlookers thrust him forward into the makeshift ring – a patch of waste ground at the top of their street, the scene of so many fights. The murky water of the River Thames, with its barges and wharves, provided the backdrop to this bloody sport.


Someone was usually posted to keep a look out for the cozzers, but to be honest, they tended to leave well alone. Scores would be settled every week with bare-knuckles on the cobbles and, in the eyes of the law, it was better than in the bar after a few beers. Men, women, kids, dogs and even rats – it was all fair game for a fight in Waterloo. If it lived and breathed, the bookies would take bets on it.


A bull terrier bared its teeth and was kicked into silence by its owner, as the crowd jostled and called for more: ‘Finish him, Frank!’ The odds were against him, but the locals were on his side and it spurred him on. Kathleen and Jim, his older brother and sister, were standing on tiptoe near the back of the crowd, peering over the tops of shoulders to catch a glimpse of the fight. They watched, stony-faced with disapproval.


Eva felt her stomach lurch at the thought of the belting Frank would get from their father when he found out he’d been fighting again. And her mother, well, she would tear a strip off Eva for allowing him to do it. Eva was supposed to make sure Frankie stayed away from fights, especially since the accident. He’d almost died when a lorry ran him over and his head swelled so badly the doctors had to pack it in ice.


But there was no point telling him not to fight. He might be the smallest ten-year-old in the street, his cheeky face framed by a scruffy mop of jet black hair, but he was the gamest, he was good with his fists and never gave up. Besides, every time his mother tried to wrap him in cotton wool it only made him more determined to fight his corner. What’s more, Eva had bet their last penny on Frank winning and they needed the money to give to their mother to help with the housekeeping.


Frank took a couple more blows to the face but if the Colombo Street kid thought that was going to stop him, he was wrong. Frank’s eyes blazed with anger but he smiled at his opponent, as if he was actually enjoying being beaten to a pulp. It unsettled the Colombo Street kid, who dropped his guard, for a split second: ‘What are you laughing at?’


‘I’m going to knock your fucking block off,’ said Frank, matter-of-factly, and he lunged in a frenzy of punches, driven by some unseen force, the blood still pouring from the cut above his eye. It all happened in an instant; the Colombo Street kid was down on the floor and Frank was on him, still pummelling away.


The crowd fell silent. The sport was over but Frank didn’t stop. The big lump from round the corner was now just a pathetic ball of mother-love on the floor, howling for mercy. One of the regulars from the factory pulled Frank off and held his hands aloft in victory, sparking a few cheers. He was patted on the head. Somebody lit a cigarette. Backs were turned. Money changed hands. Lunch break was over.


The Colombo Street kid picked himself up, whimpering, and limped away. Frank’s scrawny frame heaved with the effort of his fight as Eva counted their spoils. The bookie had paid out and left to prop up the bar for a while longer. Frank’s sister, Kathleen, came over with a bucket with some leeches in it, given to her by a neighbour. Frank winced as she stuck one over his swollen eye to suck up the blood. He’d have to clean up a bit before they’d dare show their faces at home, the whole street knew that much and no one would mention the fight to his parents. The state of his face would be telltale enough.


He managed to grin at Eva: ‘How did I do?’ His stomach was rumbling. It was hours since breakfast and that had only been day-old bread from the bakery up in Covent Garden.


‘You were the best, Frankie,’ she said, turning the coins over in her pocket. ‘But we’re still running a bit short.’ She gave him a wink as she grabbed his hand: ‘Let’s go to the corner shop and see what we can find there to take home. I’ll stand lookout.’




CHAPTER 1


BORN CRIMINAL


Frank Fraser didn’t have to steal to live. But all those who knew him throughout his fifty-year career as one of Britain’s most dangerous gangsters will swear to one fact: Frank Fraser certainly lived to steal. Although he gained notoriety for acts of violence as a henchman and hitman – in razor and axe attacks – if you ever asked Frank to describe himself he would say, simply: ‘I’m a thief.’ The illicit thrill of thieving began when he was only four, finding his way in the rundown streets of London’s Waterloo.


Frank Davidson Fraser came into the world on 13 December 1923, delivered by his maternal grandmother, who walloped him on the backside and declared him healthy. The youngest of five children, he was born into a working-class family, living in a street so rough that policemen wouldn’t venture down it, even in pairs.


For years, the poorest immigrants had settled beside the River Thames in Lambeth and many families could trace Irish or Italian ancestry. Frank’s own family had a more startling heritage, which included Native American and Canadian on his father’s side, as well as Irish and Norwegian on his mother’s. None of it mattered to anyone in the neighbourhood; each family was simply as poor as the next.


His father, James, was a grafter, a workaholic in Frank’s opinion. Frank never forgave him for it because he sweated so hard for so little money. Even at the end of his days, Frank would still say, with a wry grin on his face, that his father ‘was a huge disappointment to me because he let me down by being the straightest person you could ever meet. I saw where honesty got people and I didn’t think much of it. I was sure of one thing, I wasn’t going to end up like my father.’


Toiling seven days a week, from dawn until dusk, James Fraser earned less than £2 a week as a wood sawyer at the local cricket bat makers, Stuart Surridge. It was a job he had been given due to family connections – his wife’s father, Thomas, worked as a nightwatchman at the docks for the same company. Frank’s mother, Margaret, had three cleaning jobs to supplement the family income. Twice a day – early in the morning and after teatime – she travelled across the water to Millbank, to clean the buildings at ICI. During the day she scrubbed the floors in a little hotel in Waterloo Road to earn a few shillings more.


James, who was born in 1885, was a military man. He had lived such a life; fighting in the war against the Spanish in Cuba when he was in the US Navy in 1898, providing emergency relief to the stricken city of San Francisco after the 1906 earthquake and then coming over to England from Canada on a convoy of food during the First World War. Margaret was working as a cleaner when she caught his eye at the Union Jack Club in Waterloo, just as the conflict was coming to an end. He had swept Margaret, then aged nineteen, off her feet.


James, who was thirty by then, was a world away from the other lads she’d grown up with. They still seemed like boys next to him. He was a real man who had served his time before the mast and now wanted to settle down and be a good father. Margaret hadn’t meant to fall pregnant so soon after meeting him. Her father, Thomas Anderson, had been furious and threatened to disown her. Thomas, who had been crippled fighting with the Black Watch during the Boer War, had a fierce temper but James Fraser managed to talk him round, promising to stand by his daughter.


Thomas’s wife, however, was a different matter. She was a tall, forceful Irishwoman from County Kildare in Ireland, who worked as a cook at a hotel in Waterloo Road and took no nonsense from anybody. Off she went to the Admiralty to check that James Fraser didn’t have another family hidden away in his home country of Canada, before she would give her blessing to the young couple. Only when they confirmed James was what he claimed to be, did the Andersons open their house to James and their pregnant daughter.


James Fraser and Margaret lived together under the Andersons’ roof, at 101 Cornwall Road, while they got themselves sorted out. James and Thomas would sit together in the evenings, playing cards by candlelight, as Margaret sewed clothes for the baby growing in her belly. Her mother, who liked to be known as Nanny Day, was at her side. Now they were a family.


James was a solid and dependable man. He went away to sea with the Merchant Navy in the early years of their marriage, once coming home really sick with malaria, which necessitated a spell in the Naval Hospital at Greenwich. Before long, Margaret really did have her hands full, and so James left the navy. The couple’s eldest child, Peggy, was born in 1918. The twins, Kathleen and Jim, came along in 1920, then Alice Evelyn – known as Eva – born in 1922 and finally Frank, just in time for Christmas 1923. Frank was to be her last.


Although all the children were born at Cornwall Road, they were raised a stone’s throw away at the house round the corner that their parents had begun renting just after Peggy was born, in a little row of slum terraces known as Howley Terrace, later renamed Howley Place. But no amount of name changing could disguise the squalor. Home was a two-up, two-down with a scullery at the back. There was no bathroom in the house and no lavatory – that was in the yard. The bath was a tin one, in the kitchen, and that was rarely used because of the cost of heating water on the stove. Sometimes, the entire family might go down to Manor Place Baths to have a wash but, as that was expensive, in the summertime Frank and the other children would swim naked in the Thames, right where the Oxo Tower stands today.


The tiny house struggled to contain them all – Frank and Jim shared an upstairs bedroom at the front of the house, the girls shared the one at the back. Their parents used the living room as their bedroom. It was fine, unless there was a birthday party for the children. Then, they would just shove the bed in the corner while the kids played games like blind man’s buff and pass the parcel.


The houses in Howley Place stood in a row, facing railway arches that had doors underneath. Some of the arches were used to store scenery for West End theatres. Over the top of the arches, in Waterloo Road, was a row of little hotels. All the rubbish from the hotels was thrown down into the backyards of Howley Place, which made the area a breeding ground for rats as big as cats. The locals turned this into a form of weekend entertainment, with bull terriers brought in to chase the rats. It was a vibrant street, full of excitement for an impressionable young boy such as Frank, who loved nothing better than seeing a dog catch a rat and throw it up in the air, to the cheers of the other children.


Row upon row of similarly grim, cobbled streets sprawled along by the river, punctuated by a grocer’s shop on the corner, or a public house where James Fraser might occasionally indulge in a well-earned pint. He was not a serious or regular drinker – he couldn’t afford to be with so many children to feed and clothe, and with her three cleaning jobs, there was precious little time for Margaret to keep an eye on the children.


James was very careful with their money; Margaret had to budget for everything and woe betide her if she ran short. She wasn’t afraid of hard work, but would have liked to have a few more shillings in her purse. Every Monday, she took James’s blue serge suit to the pawnbroker and put it in until Friday, when his wages came, just to be sure she’d have enough to tide them through the week. He had no idea she was doing it. She loved that suit, not just because it provided much-needed cash for the family budget, but also because he had married her in it, to make an honest woman of her, after she’d had the twins. James didn’t get round to taking Margaret up the aisle before the twins came along because he was often away at sea and the couple never seemed to have the time or the money to contemplate getting hitched.


Frank, Eva and the other children knew from a very early age that there were times when their mother bore the brunt of their father’s temper. James would dish out a slap and once he even shoved her down the stairs. But their mother’s approach in those early years was to pretend that nothing had happened and do her best to carry on as normal, shooing the children out to play while their father sat brooding at the little table in the scullery. That pretence made it a family secret in which they were all complicit. It was something shameful, not to be talked about, in case the neighbours found out. That stuck with Frank, even later in life.


Beverley, Eva’s daughter, explained: ‘At first Margaret saw it as just being part of her lot. She didn’t like it but she tried to do better to please him and to keep the home going, for the sake of the children. Where was she going to go? She had five kids to look after and she loved him. Nanny Day’s view was very much that she had made her bed by marrying James and now she had to lie in it.’


Margaret preferred her husband hitting her, rather than the children. James used his belt on them, the buckle end, and it broke her heart. She’d hear him shouting at them, in his Canadian accent: ‘Goddamn you!’


Sometimes she sent the children around to Nanny Day’s in Cornwall Road, just to give James a bit of peace and quiet. They would come back with funny stories about how their granny had gathered them to her skirts and warned them, in the broadest Irish accent imaginable, ‘never trust the Irish’. Frank only remembered his grandfather, Thomas Anderson, as a poorly old man with a wicked temper, but Nanny Day was a warmer character, who provided him and his siblings with care when his mother was out at work or when there had been a row at home.


Margaret felt that she wasn’t as badly off as some of the poor loves on her street – they’d had to pawn their own clothes, and had to wait until dusk before they went shopping down the market in The Cut, just south of Waterloo Station, because they only had sacks to wear. Their husbands drank themselves stupid in the pub each night, spending the housekeeping. Yet the slaps over the housekeeping were just the start of a litany of domestic abuse that was to blight Margaret’s relationship with James Fraser, and which she struggled to keep secret in the close-knit neighbourhood.


Curtains twitched in the street at an unexpected visitor – and everyone knew everybody else’s business, living cheek by jowl as they did. There were regulars in the street – such as the coal merchant with his lorry, the muffin man, the jellied eel man and, of course, the tallyman. Margaret and the other housewives would buy clothes and household items from him and pay him back weekly, or on the ‘never-never’ – as they never had the cash to pay upfront.


Noise in the street was constant, with the rattle of the trains on the railway line nearby, the shouting of children, the barking of dogs and the comings and goings of the inhabitants, packed into the tiny houses like sardines in a tin. Motorcars were quite a rare sight, and the horse and cart was still seen plodding along even as lorries rumbled to and fro along the main roads to the factories and onwards to the docks. When James straggled home after an exhausting day, he would find the children playing out in the street, as the brewer’s dray plodded past, or the tallyman departed with a wave over his shoulder. Margaret was never quite sure what mood he would be in when he came through the front door.


Frank preferred to gloss over the domestic violence he grew up with, seeing it as just the way things were done at that time. He never openly condemned his father for what he did but, tellingly, for all his violence, nor did he ever raise his hand to a woman, nor did he beat his children. His son, David Fraser, said: ‘Our dad Frank was known as a violent man and when it came to it, in what he would call his business life, he could be when it was required and he was well known for what he did in prison, but he never hit our mother and he didn’t like that sort of behaviour against women or children. He was very clear about that. He had standards about how children and women should be treated and he passed those on to us.’


Today, nothing remains of Howley Place, Frank’s grandparents’ home in Cornwall Road or the factories that provided the noisy, filthy backdrop to Frank’s earliest years. The house in Cornwall Road was torn down to make way for the Jubilee Line extension in the 1990s and an office block stands on the site of Howley Place.


Further east, on the other side of Waterloo Bridge, in the streets where little Frank and his brothers and sisters used to run amok, stands the National Theatre, a monument to the 1960s and 1970s love affair with concrete. But before the heart and soul of the bustling little corner of Waterloo was destroyed, it had made a lasting impression on Frank and his sister Eva.


In the 1920s Waterloo was a tight-lipped community, not given to ‘grassing up’ one of its number to the police, and these codes of criminal conduct stuck with Frank and Eva their whole lives. Despite Frank’s criminal tendencies, his family were not like others in the neighbourhood that spawned many notorious ‘faces’ from South London. There were no bar-room loafers among them and his father did not have to rely on casual work at the docks, which brought with it the threat of sudden unemployment and inability to pay the rent and the temptation to make easy money from illegal sources. There were no uncles who were career criminals, no burglars or pickpockets to show him the tricks of the trade.


The Fraser family home was small but was not the worst in the district, which had more than its fair share of desperate families housed in damp basements and bleak tenements. The respectable neighbours in their street were hard-working men like James Fraser – labourers and handymen. One even owned a car – a rare sight in Howley Place. For the majority of the other families, simply having a car parked outside would have led to inquiries from the police about where and how they had acquired it.


For many struggling to survive on their meagre but honest wages, the temptation to take ‘a bit of crooked’ from someone they knew down at the pub was hard to resist. The police knew it went on and were often prepared to turn a blind eye, as long as people didn’t draw attention to themselves.


Frank’s father was strictly against any kind of stolen goods ending up under his roof and was quite prepared to hand out a beating to Frank or any of his brothers and sisters on occasions when he felt they had transgressed. Frank’s view of the beatings he received as a child was that they were all done ‘for his own good’. Frank said of his dad: ‘He was trying to teach me the difference between right and wrong. It was harsh but that was how it was back then. When we see things now, we see it through different eyes. I always think he must have had a tough time when he was growing up but he was a man of few words about it.’


Little is known about the family of James Fraser in Canada, but he told Frank that his mother was a Native American of the Cree tribe and his father was a Scot, also called James Fraser, whose family had come to Canada as fur traders and trappers. Baptism records provided by the Catholic Church in Canada reveal that James junior was born at Fort Hope, an outpost of the Hudson Bay Company situated on the mouth of the Fraser River, in British Columbia. James Fraser senior and his wife travelled to New Westminster – now Vancouver – to have him baptised two weeks after his birth, where they were recorded as ‘Fort Hope indians’. Such marriages were common in the forts, and were even encouraged by the Hudson Bay Company to promote trade between the tribes and the traders, but racism was rife. Some Canadians who made such marriages were derided locally as ‘squaw men’.


Frank’s father ran away at the age of ten to join the US Navy. The children of European–Native American marriages were called ‘Métis’ or ‘half-breeds’ and it is likely that James Fraser suffered at least some racial prejudice, as in late-nineteenth-century Canada mixed-race children were seen as second-class citizens. Many tried to hide their backgrounds and schools refused to let them speak in their native tongue, and beat them if they did.


James remained tight-lipped about his reasons for leaving his family at such a young age and Frank knew better than to ask too many questions about it, for fear of provoking his father’s anger. ‘He just didn’t want to talk about it and he made that clear to me,’ said Frank. ‘I can only think that he fell out with his parents or he got sick of being beaten and wanted to run away. I like to think he had a pioneering spirit about him, it was brave leaving home like that and I admired him for it.’


In order to join the navy so young, James Fraser would have had to lie about his age. Official records suggest that’s exactly what he did. James Fraser served in the British Merchant Navy during the First World War. His medal cards and service record show he gave his birth date as 1881, while his death certificate gives his real birth year as 1885 – reflecting the lie he may have told when he first joined the US Navy as a young boy.


Another family story is that James Fraser fought in Cuba during the Spanish–American War of 1898, during which Guantanamo Bay was first claimed by the US. He would have been just thirteen at the time. The many years he spent serving in the Merchant Navy may well have contributed to James’s strict view on law breaking. But, according to family legend, James found himself on the wrong side of the law as a young man in his native Canada and the memory of that never left him. ‘My mother always said that he had killed a man in a fight in Canada and served eighteen months for manslaughter,’ said Frank. ‘Whatever the reasons, my father was terrified of the police. He was desperate for us not to be in trouble. I think I let him down in that regard. No matter how hard he beat me, it didn’t stop me, not at all.’


Often, when James started to pull off his belt and signalled for Frank to step forward to take his punishment, Eva would hold him back. Eva would then look her father in the eye and say she had done it, to take the belting on behalf of her brother, who she tried to shield from physical harm at every opportunity. The reason why Eva was so brave may lie in the guilt she always felt about the terrible accident Frank suffered at the age of five, at the top of their street.


Her only surviving daughter, Beverley, now in her seventies, remembers her mother reliving the horror of it: ‘They were both playing out in the street, games of chase, that sort of thing, and Frank ran to the top of the road where the big lorries used to go along to the London Wastepaper Company.


‘Frank loved to collect his football cards from cigarette packets and he would often shout to the drivers of the lorries to chuck them out to him: “Got any cards, Mister?”


‘Well, on this day, a driver had thrown some out for him and he had gone to pick them up in the road but he dropped his own ones in the street as he did so. He was bending down to pick them up when another lorry came along and hit him.


‘Eva saw it but couldn’t stop him. She ran screaming for him to step back but it was too late. Frank’s little body was just left there in the road. The lorry ran over his head.


‘Of course, it wasn’t her fault but that feeling never left her. He was her little brother and she always felt she had to look after him, just like her mother told her to.’


Frank was left unconscious and was scooped up by someone from their street and loaded on to the back of a lorry tailgate, with his sisters and brothers crying beside him. They all went to St Thomas’ Hospital, while their mother was sent for from her cleaning job and his father came back from work early from the factory. Frank suffered a fractured skull, leading to weeks in hospital. His head swelled up so badly that doctors had to pack it in ice.


Frank then succumbed to meningitis, requiring further hospital care – giving his mother many sleepless nights. Frank’s view of the terrible accident he suffered was that it was ‘just one of those things’ and it didn’t stop him running about like the other kids and getting into trouble. ‘In fact, in some ways, I think it made me more determined because I had been sick, so I had to prove myself more, to show that I wasn’t the weak one,’ he said. ‘I was more daring than quite a few of the other boys in my street for that reason.’


Like so many of the poor children in 1920s London, bread was the mainstay of Frank’s diet – bread and jam, bread and a scrape of butter, bread and dripping. Often, it was stale, as the only way that their mother could afford to buy the amount of bread they needed to keep them going was to get it cheaply from the bakery when it was a day old.


From the age of just three, Frank made regular two-mile round trips across the water from Waterloo to Godden and Hanken, the bakery in Covent Garden, clasping a pillowcase to fill with stale buns and loaves for a few pennies, accompanied by Eva and their Airedale terrier.


Joining them in the queue, at five o’clock in the morning, was a ragged line of children who could have come straight from the streets of Victorian London; some had torn clothes, others had bare feet and fingernails black with dirt. Frank and Eva were clean. Their mother made sure of that – scrubbing their faces with a dishcloth before they were allowed to set foot outside the house. Their father had no idea what they were up to and the shame of his children queuing up with the urchins would have earned them a beating.


The Covent Garden they knew then was one of flower-sellers in long skirts and straw hats, their woollen shawls pulled tightly around their shoulders as they set up their pitches, while drunks from the night before still lolled in the gutters.


On one of these trips, when they were running late and were last in the queue, an older girl with startling blue eyes and long blonde hair allowed them to go in front of her, so that they didn’t miss out. She was ten-year-old Kate Wall, the eldest daughter of brewery drayman Danny Wall and his wife Rosina. Kate lived in a cramped tenement building in Southwark with her seven brothers and sisters. Years later, she would go on to marry Frank and give him three sons, all of whom would launch criminal careers of their own. Their shared background of grinding poverty helped them to form a close bond.


Meat was a luxury, bought to keep Frank’s father going, as the working man of the family. Their mother would make a stew for the children once a week, which had to last for several meals. The children had stewed ‘pieces’ of meat – chunks that could be little more than gristle – served in gravy, always with potatoes, sometimes with greens if they were in season. A joint of meat would be the focus of the family’s week, for Sunday lunch, if they could afford it. Suet pudding with treacle was a treat, milk was a rarity and they might get fruit from the farm when they went hop-picking in Kent for six weeks during the summer with the rest of the neighbourhood, but otherwise that was a luxury their mother couldn’t afford.


It is little wonder that Frank started out stealing fruit and sweets – because like many of the children in the neighbourhood, he was a hungry little boy. ‘I didn’t see it as doing wrong,’ he said, ‘and to be honest, I loved the feeling of being able to do something for myself by nicking a bit of this and that. There was plenty of opportunity to get up to no good because we all had so much freedom then, we didn’t have grown-ups around, watching over us so much.’


The thrill of stealing money and getting away with it soon followed. And that thrill never left him. A key moment in his childhood came when he first stole from the till at the corner shop, at the age of five. The idea, of course, was Eva’s. With her solemn little face and secretive nature, she had relished the prospect of no longer being the baby of the family when Frank came along. She had a playmate to boss about at last, rather than being bossed by the twins, Kathleen and Jim, who she felt always ganged up on her. Being the leader and telling Frank what to steal was a role she excelled in. ‘It was usually even stevens in the crime stakes between me and Eva, but in those early days, where she led, I followed,’ Frank remembered. ‘I would have followed her off a cliff. She was only doing what she had seen the older kids do. It was exciting for us and it also meant we had extra money, which was unheard of for kids like us.’


Eva stood guard and then created a distraction as Frank dashed around the counter and stuck his hand in the till, grabbing what he could. Sometimes, Eva would send the shopkeeper downstairs to look for something – such as a candle – and then say she had changed her mind when he reappeared, by which time Frank had scarpered.


The first time he stole money, he took £2 – a small fortune in those days. As Frank said: ‘A man could go to work for £2 for a week and come home and feel proud, as my father did.’ Clutching the money, he ran home to his mother, who was a staunch Catholic and was raising them in the faith, with regular trips to Mass. All the children were pupils at the local Roman Catholic primary school, St Patrick’s in Cornwall Road. Instead of marching him off to the police station, or demanding that Frank tell her where the money came from, Margaret crossed herself and raised her eyes to heaven. ‘Dear Lord,’ she said, tucking the money into the pocket of her apron, ‘thank you for giving me such a lucky, lucky child.’ And she patted little Frank on the head and sent him out to play.


The domestic abuse suffered by Margaret was an unspoken motive for both Frank and Eva’s earliest thieving. They wanted to help their mother, who stoically struggled to make ends meet. With one parent prepared to turn a blind eye and the other leaving him unable to sit down for several days for his transgressions, it soon became clear that the law of the street held a bigger sway over Frank than any kind of rules at home.


Frank and Eva’s older siblings wanted no part of any wrongdoing and looked on their younger brother and sister as the ‘wild ones’ in the family, who were always ripe for getting into trouble but were loyal enough never to inform on them to their parents. There were good, honest hard-working people in the community, who would tell James and Margaret if they saw Frank and Eva getting up to no good. But there were just as many who would happily egg them on as they fled down the street with something they had stolen from the corner shop. It was seen as just part of growing up around Waterloo Road, as Frank recalled: ‘We’d laugh about it afterwards. It wasn’t as if we thought we were really doing anything wrong. Lots of people were bent in some way or had a bit of stuff on them that was nicked. It was a way of life when you had so little.’


The desire to have a new pair of plimsolls to wear while he was boxing was the drive behind Frank’s first attempt at thieving something bigger than sweets or loose change from the till. His shoes were always full of holes. One of his earliest memories was of crossing one foot over the other, as he took Holy Communion, to cover a hole in his boot. ‘It never occurred to me that other children probably had holes in their boots too, so it wouldn’t have been an unusual sight. I just felt I was trying to be respectful, because my mother did bring me up with respect for the church,’ he said.


Although he was no scholar, he excelled at sports and was captain of the football team at St Patrick’s, so his boots and plimsolls were always wearing through. ‘I knew I couldn’t ask my mother for a new pair of plimsolls, because they cost 11 pence – which was a fortune to her. I didn’t want to make her feel bad that she couldn’t afford it but I was ashamed of the holes in mine. I really wanted a pair because I had a boxing match coming up – she didn’t know about that either.


‘So, off I went to Peacry’s, a general dealer in The Cut, which used to have rows of plimsolls hanging up outside. I had worked out by looking at them which ones were most likely to fit, so I just jumped up and tried to pull them down. My plan had been to run off with them, but I managed to pull the whole bloody rail down on top of myself. The next thing I know, people are chasing me and I have got hold of these plimsolls and I am running for dear life. I was caught a few streets away. I got a slap around the ear for it and they took the plimsolls back but no one told my mother.


‘I went off to the boxing match and my plimsolls just fell apart and I ended up boxing in my socks. I did really well – in fact, I won. The thing I hadn’t reckoned on was the result being in the paper. My mum found out when people started congratulating her in the street – and she put an end to it. My head injury meant that boxing was the very last thing I should be doing. That’s how my first serious attempt at thieving put an end to my boxing career.’


Their neighbourhood had more than its fair share of characters – who were either thieves or handled stolen goods – and it was among these people that firstly Eva and then Frank really learned their craft. One of the regulars around the pubs near Howley Place was Annie Daley, known as ‘Dartmoor Annie’. Her husband had a pitch selling evening papers outside Waterloo Station, and she was known for her generosity to convicts coming back from serving time in The Moor.


The Moor was the infamous Dartmoor Prison, where prisoners were still flogged with the cat-o’-nine-tails – a fearsome whip made up of nine knotted strands of rope – and the walls ran with water, as they had done during the Napoleonic era when the prison was first built to house French soldiers captured at Waterloo. Prisoners coming back to London would step off the train at Waterloo Station, safe in the knowledge that Dartmoor Annie would give them £1 to keep them going until they could find work – which usually meant going out thieving again. Dartmoor Annie was also known as a reliable local ‘fence’ – who would dispose of stolen goods for a commission.


She was more than happy to sell things on for Frank and Eva, who took to ‘creeping’ in hotels. This meant sneaking into the cheap hotels along the Waterloo Road, looking for things to steal, sometimes finding easy pickings and sometimes almost getting caught. ‘If anyone asked me what I was doing, I would say I was just looking for my uncle or I was lost, that sort of thing,’ said Frank. ‘It was risky, but worth it.’


Frank also used busy travellers as another means of making a few pennies, either by charging them to carry their bags, or – under the watchful eye of Dartmoor Annie – offering to take money from them to buy a newspaper and then running out of the station, cash in hand.


Liz English, known as ‘Lumps and Bumps’ because she was always being beaten up by the police when she was drunk and disorderly, was another helping hand on the road to crime. She ran the flower stall at Waterloo Station and would tip Frank the wink about any delivery vans that might have goods worth stealing in them. Her son, Johnny, could be hired as a local lookout but he was so useless at it that he was known as ‘Mile Away’ Johnny – because that is where he would be, instead of keeping an eye out for the law.


Lumps and Bumps was also very obliging when it came to relieving Eva and Frank of the suitcases they had stolen from travellers at the station, which was another favourite ruse. ‘They’d offer to carry a case for someone and leg it,’ said Eva’s daughter, Beverley. ‘Later on they’d find Lumps and Bumps outside the pub – she’d usually had a few to drink by then – and give things to her to sell on for them. Whatever she gave them in return seemed like a fortune to them. They were just poor kids.’


Lumps and Bumps made a big impression on Frank, not least because she was a large lady who was usually very drunk and who didn’t wear any knickers. Beverley said: ‘She was well known for her habit of going into the pub, hoicking up her skirt and warming her bum in front of the fire, one cheek at a time. That was quite some sight.’


Frank and Eva’s first major theft, which made Lumps and Bumps realise their potential as more than just naughty kids thieving for a lark, came when they were aged ten and eleven, after they stole a cigarette machine from a hotel in York Road, about a half a mile from their home. As dusk fell, they dragged it to a local church. Beside the church, there was a temporary health clinic in a hut on stilts. The pair heaved the cigarette machine underneath and prised it open to get at the cigarettes inside. Laden with their booty, they contacted Lumps and Bumps, who took a cut before referring them on to Peter Daley, husband of Dartmoor Annie, who relieved them of the cigarettes for a fair price.


They took the money home to their mother and once again recited their story of how they had found a pound or two. This continued for the next few weeks, with Margaret accepting their cash, no questions asked. Somehow – aided and abetted by Frank and Eva’s contributions – Margaret managed to save enough from her household kitty to buy a secondhand piano for their elder sister Kathleen’s birthday that year. She even convinced her husband James that she’d scrimped and saved for the piano by doing extra hours cleaning at the hotel in Waterloo Road, putting her further in cahoots with her thieving offspring. The family would gather around while Kathleen bashed out a tune and they would all sing along. For a working-class family who were so poor to spend cash on a musical instrument was almost unheard of – particularly when they struggled to feed and clothe the children.


For the same reasons, very few photographs exist of young Frank, who was always quick to point out the relative wealth of his old rivals, the Krays, ‘who had loads of pictures of themselves growing up’. The only time the Frasers had a family portrait taken was when his father lost a finger in a work accident and received £100 compensation. This windfall was celebrated with new clothes for everyone and a holiday to Southend. Looking back at the photo, Frank said: ‘We are all sitting there, spruced up in new clothes. I look a bit uncomfortable because I wasn’t used to dressing up. Although we were always clean, my clothes were often tattered. Eva is showing off her new beret. My mother, for once, looks quite serene. We even look like quite a well-off family but the truth was nothing like that. I like to think my thieving in those early days made things a bit easier for us, even if my mum couldn’t acknowledge it at the time.’


Frank idolised his mother, giving her the nickname Lady Margaret as a mark of the respect he felt for her. His father was not held in such high regard, not only because he was heavy-handed with his mother, but also because he was determined to bring up his children to respect the law. Frank’s view of the police, even from a young age, was that they were all corrupt or could be corrupted – so, as he would argue: ‘What was the point of respecting them? My dad would have had me take every penny I’d “found” down to the police station, where some cozzer would probably have pocketed it, so to me it seemed fairer that we kept it and it did some good. I wasn’t born criminal, no, but I am glad it turned out that way.’




CHAPTER 2


IN THE GANG


By his tenth year, Frank Fraser had been taken under the wing of one of the big crime families of early twentieth-century London. The Sabinis were of Italian descent and had lived in and around Clerkenwell since the latter part of the nineteenth century. They had developed a fearsome reputation through their feud with a rival gang, the Birmingham-based Brummagems, with whom they fought pitched battles at racecourses around the country during the 1920s. The knuckleduster and the cosh transcended any difficulties the two sides may have had communicating with each other and jail sentences did little to deter them from fierce fights.


By the start of the 1930s, the Sabinis and the Brummagems had called an uneasy truce, with the Italians controlling the racecourses in the south and south-east, while Billy Kimber and the Brummagems held the Midlands and the north. To the bookmakers, it made no odds who was running the protection rackets – they still had to pay up.


Frank was introduced to the family through a school friend called Billy Murray, whose mother owned a flower stall at Charing Cross Station. Frank would help Mrs Murray take boxes of flowers to her stall and, as a favour, she offered to help him find some paid employment, though the fact that Frank’s dark hair and tanned complexion, a result of his Native American heritage, often saw him mistaken for an Italian child may also have played a part in him getting the job. The Sabinis were struck by his good looks and cheeky grin and gave him the job of ‘bucket boy’ – wiping the odds off the chalkboards at the races. As an impressionable young boy, he ‘hopped the wag’ and went to the races, where he watched how the family ran their business. It was a humble beginning but it was an important entry into the underworld.


One of the Sabinis’ tricks was to make the bookies pay for the services of the bucket boy and even for the chalk they used to write up the odds. As well as wiping the chalkboards, Frank’s job was to collect this money, demanding half a crown from each of the bookies to hand to his paymasters: ‘I thought it was brilliant because I got a day off at the races, without telling my parents, and I would come home with two shillings and sixpence.’ Anyone who refused would find themselves hassled off their pitch, thumped or slashed by the razors of the Sabini gang’s thugs.


From this early experience among gangsters, he learned how to walk, talk and even dress like a mobster, although he was too young and too short of cash to really look the part. These men were known as ‘the Chaps’. ‘I noticed the way that the Chaps tipped their hats to the women, opened doors for them,’ said Frank. ‘They dressed really smartly – a suit, tie and a trilby hat. No man would consider himself dressed without a hat. That was what being one of the Chaps was all about back then and I liked that.’


The Sabinis’ influence was not confined to the racetracks. They also ran protection rackets throughout the clubs and shops of Soho, as well as running illegal gambling dens, called ‘spielers’, which were open all hours and added to the allure of the West End, where the aristocracy slummed it with hoodlums. This made the leader of the gang, Darby Sabini – Darbo to his friends – a man not to be messed with. Frank was struck by the reverential way in which the leader of the gang was treated.


Darby – so called because ‘darby’ was a slang term for being left-handed in the boxing world – had a fearsome reputation as a boxer and a hardman, who could easily knock someone out with a single punch. He didn’t need to rely on his henchmen to back him up in a fight – which made him all the more heroic in Frank’s eyes. ‘He was never menacing to me, in fact, I thought he was a nice bloke,’ said Frank. ‘He would pat me on the head, hand me my money and tell me to take it home to my mother. I had heard his men calling him “Darbo”, so I’d copy them and say “Thanks, Darbo”. That always made him laugh, because I was rather cheeky.’


Frank’s new contacts in the racing world also helped him at school. For once, Frank, who was not an academic child in any sense of the word, passed his maths and English exams and almost came top of the class. Giving racing tips to one of the teachers meant he was rewarded with a copy of the forthcoming exam papers.


When he wasn’t at the races, he was back in Waterloo with Eva, his sister and partner in crime. And they were getting more daring by the day, graduating from ‘creeping’ in hotels to crossing the water and stealing from offices. It was on one such expedition that they stole a packet of insurance cards, thinking they were nicking cash. When they got the packet home, they discovered they had acquired documents of some kind and, not knowing what to do with them, hid them behind a picture on the mantelpiece. Fortunately for them, their mother – and not their father – found the packet.


Margaret Anderson realised that her children had broken into an office and decided to take action of her own to protect them from their own stupidity. She crept out of the house at night, went several streets away, and threw the cards down the drain. The children knew she had covered for them and she told them not to do it again – but, of course, that was not the end of their thieving. In many ways, they were just getting into their stride.


As Eva and Frank’s criminal activity stepped up a gear, so did the slaps their mother received from her husband. James seemed to have little understanding of the difficulty of raising five children on barely any money and when their eldest daughter Peggy left home, he docked money from Margaret’s housekeeping. This made it even harder for her to balance the books. Behind closed doors James would throw the occasional punch and neighbours couldn’t help but notice a bruised cheek or a black eye from time to time.


As Frank approached his teenage years, Margaret started to find a voice for her anger about the way her husband treated her. ‘She would tell James Fraser that once the children were fourteen and could leave school, she’d be off,’ said Eva’s daughter, Beverley. ‘She was biding her time and working out how to get away because he treated her so badly. It was hard in those days. There wasn’t an easy way out and she had the kids to think about.’


By the time he was twelve, Frank’s days as a bucket boy were over. He was no longer cute enough to pull in the punters and, overnight, he found his services were no longer required. To keep earning, he stepped up his stealing, with Eva at his side. Knowing that he and Eva could not take their loot home to their parents’ house, the pair turned to their old friend Lumps and Bumps for help. She was a well-known fence around Lambeth but her associates spread as far as the Elephant and Castle, home to two powerful and inter-related local gangs.


They were the Forty Thieves, an all-female gang of shoplifters, and the Elephant Boys, a loose association of burglars, thieves and thugs, often with sisters, girlfriends or wives in the other gang. The Forty Thieves had achieved almost legendary status by the early 1930s for their daring and dangerous exploits in the shops of the West End. Newspaper reports from the 1920s reveal how they terrorised upmarket stores including Selfridges, sometimes ‘steaming’ through in a big gang and grabbing everything in sight, before making off in getaway cars that were parked outside with their engines running.


By the 1930s, the operation had become more sophisticated, moving away from the ‘smash and grab’ approach, to highly organised and well-trained groups of four or five girls working their way through particular stores. The gang was headed up by the Queen of the Forty Thieves – strapping, five foot eight inch-tall Alice Diamond, who was born into a criminal family in Southwark in 1896. She wore a clutch of diamond rings, using them as a knuckleduster when required. The police knew her as ‘Diamond Annie’ and were warned that a blow from her fist could cost them an eye. When arrested, she put up a fierce fight and she had been known to dish it out to members of the Elephant Boys and other Forty Thieves when she felt they had transgressed or challenged her authority. She ran the show and her male drivers were kept in much the same way as a pimp keeps a prostitute.


Lumps and Bumps introduced Frank and Eva to Alice, and the Queen of the Forty Thieves was delighted to meet them. She took them under her wing, offering them a place to keep their stolen goods – for a cut, of course – a listening ear and a cup of tea. Eva and Frank used to love to hear stories of her most daring thefts and close shaves with the law. They sat wide-eyed as troops of Alice’s ‘girls’ came into the house laden with goods stolen from Selfridges and Marshall & Snelgrove on Oxford Street and Whiteleys in Bayswater and unloaded their shopping bags. Furs, jewellery, leather goods and silk underwear were their speciality. They were stunned at how much loot these girls could hide about their person; inside hats and muffs, in the linings of specially tailored coats and most usually, down their drawers – a practice known as ‘clouting’.
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